

The Link Between Mental Illness and Firearm Violence: Implications for Social Policy and Clinical Practice

John S. Rozel and Edward P. Mulvey

Department of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15213; email: rozeljs@upmc.edu, mulveyep@upmc.edu

Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 2017. 13:2.1-2.25

The Annual Review of Clinical Psychology is online at clinpsy.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-021815-093459

Copyright © 2017 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

Keywords

firearm injury prevention, violence, mental illness, public policy, patient rights, safer storage

Abstract

The United States has substantially higher levels of firearm violence than most other developed countries. Firearm violence is a significant and preventable public health crisis. Mental illness is a weak risk factor for violence despite popular misconceptions reflected in the media and policy. That said, mental health professionals play a critical role in assessing their patients for violence risk, counseling about firearm safety, and guiding the creation of rational and evidence-based public policy that can be effective in mitigating violence risk without unnecessarily stigmatizing people with mental illness. This article summarizes existing evidence about the interplay among mental illness, violence, and firearms, with particular attention paid to the role of active symptoms, addiction, victimization, and psychosocial risk factors. The social and legal context of firearm ownership is discussed as a preface to exploring practical, evidence-driven, and behaviorally informed policy recommendations for mitigating firearm violence risk.

Contents
1. INTRODUCTION
2. MENTAL ILLNESS, VIOLENCE, AND GUN VIOLENCE
2.1. Mental Illness and Violence
2.2. Substance Use and Violence
2.3. Psychosocial Risk Factors and Violence
3. THE SOCIAL AND LEGAL CONTEXT OF GUN OWNERSHIP
IN THE UNITED STATES
3.1. Gun Ownership and Gun Owners
3.2. Legal Issues
3.3. Gun Culture
4. CURRENT POLICY INITIATIVES ADDRESSING GUN VIOLENCE
AND MENTAL ILLNESS
4.1. Screening Firearm Purchasers
4.2. Removal After a Prohibiting Event
4.3. Prohibitions on Asking About Access to Firearms
5. TOWARD SOUND POLICY
5.1. Characteristics of an Optimal Policy
5.2. Ineffective Approaches
5.3. Potentially Effective Interventions
6. CONCLUSION

1. INTRODUCTION

The United States is one of only three countries with a Constitutionally protected right to own firearms; of the three, it is the only one with minimal restrictions on that right (Elkins 2013). With over 350 million privately owned firearms (Ingraham 2015), the United States substantially exceeds all other countries in both per capita ownership of guns and absolute number of guns: Approximately 30% of all privately owned firearms in the world are in the hands of US residents (Small Arms Surv. 2011).

The number of lives taken with guns also makes the United States exceptional. The US rate of suicide by firearm is 8 times higher and the rate of homicide by firearm is 25 times higher than the rates in other economically developed countries (Grinshteyn & Hemenway 2016). Although mass shootings capture the news cycle on an all too frequent basis, the quotidian toll of gun-related violent crime, domestic violence (DV), and suicide shatters lives and erodes communities. Mass shootings generally account for 1% or less of all firearm violence, and suicides routinely take twice as many lives as homicides. The public health impact of firearms in the United States is staggering.

Popular media, meanwhile, does little to keep the problem in perspective. The common perceptions driven by news media are that gun violence and mass shootings are increasing and are at historically high levels. Firearm homicide rates have actually decreased despite widespread perceptions to the contrary (Cohn et al. 2013). Estimates of increases in mass shootings, meanwhile, are tenuous at best. Although there has been some suggestion that the absolute number and frequency of these events may have seen a recent uptick (Blair & Schweit 2014, Schweit 2016), other studies suggest that mass shootings have maintained a relatively steady share of approximately 1% of US violence over the past century (Duwe 2004, Stone 2015).

A pernicious and false but increasingly common message promoted in the media is that people with mental illness are prone to violence in general and are responsible for mass shootings (McGinty et al. 2014b, 2016b). Studies consistently indicate that, even among mass murders and shootings, mental illness is a factor in a minority of these events (Duwe 2004, Fox & DeLateur 2014, Stone 2015, Taylor 2016, Vossekuil et al. 2002). Nonetheless, the notion that mental illness drives these events is stoked regularly, and the impact of this trend in US media coverage of violence is so significant that it is now seen to be distorting perceptions even outside of the United States (Jorm & Reavley 2014).

The notoriety given to mass shootings and the link made to mental illness have two effects. First, they promote stigma by conflating mental illness and violence—a bias that affects patients, providers, the public, and policy makers (Clement et al. 2015, Corrigan et al. 2005, Price & Khubchandani 2016). Second, they distract the public and policy makers from dealing with the issues of violence and mental illness, and gun violence in particular, in an empirically grounded, frank way.

The simplistic model of mental illness driving mass shootings or violent crime leads to a simplistic, politically popular, but ineffectual policy solution: provide more mental health services (Gold 2013, Pinals et al. 2015). Who could reasonably be against that idea? Policy makers and politicians are attracted to this solution because it helps them avoid more complicated and politically treacherous debates about effective limits on gun ownership, tracking, or registration. Given the overloaded state of current mental health services, mental health professionals are certainly tempted to endorse this solution and to take such funds, even knowing that access to mental health services will have little impact on gun violence, mass shootings, or violence in general. Such Faustian bargains have foreseeable consequences, though, including increased stigma for mentally ill individuals and the diversion of necessary resources from better interventions (Rozel 2016). Policies intending to mitigate gun violence risk by narrowly focusing on the narrow intersection between mental illness and mass shootings will be intrinsically limited in scope and utility and may potentially disrupt effective elements of the mental health system (Appelbaum 2013, Metzl & MacLeish 2015).

There are additional issues for mental health practitioners beyond the ethics and utility of endorsing funding for mental health services as a solution to gun violence. Firearm access and storage is a bona fide and legitimate focus of clinical concern in a number of cases on many practitioners' caseloads. The mental health provider's role in the direct management of firearm access and the overall burden of firearm violence should not be neglected. In addition, innovative policy proposals for regulating access to firearms often imply substantial involvement of mental health professionals in making judgments about the risk of an individual's access to firearms or of the lifting of a provision prohibiting an individual's access. As discussions about ways to limit the damage caused by gun violence expand, mental health professionals will likely be called upon more frequently to be part of proposed solutions regarding this issue.

At the outset, it must be recognized that the impact of firearms is highly varied: Injuries due to accidental discharge, suicide, homicide, and mass shootings have different risk factors and will entail different interventions to mitigate risk at individual and population levels. The topics of accidental shootings and suicides, though vitally important from a public health perspective and intriguing from an evidence-based medicine and policy perspective, is left for more in-depth analyses by other authors in other forums. This article addresses the intersection between mental illness and firearm violence and how the nature of that intersection frames clinical and policy interventions to mitigate the damage of gun violence. This review focuses on how scientific information can inform these efforts, but the ethical and legal aspects of working with a legally protected social determinant of a public health issue must also be considered in any policy analysis (Childress et al. 2002).

2. MENTAL ILLNESS, VIOLENCE, AND GUN VIOLENCE

2.1. Mental Illness and Violence

A useful starting point for examining the relationship between mental illness and violence, particularly gun violence, is to look at this issue from a broad, population-based perspective. Epidemiological studies have shown an association between having a mental illness and being involved in crime or violence (Elbogen & Johnson 2009, Stuart 2003, Tiihonen et al. 1997, Walsh et al. 2002). Although the power of this link is greatly overestimated by the general public (Pescosolido 2013), it has been documented repeatedly that people who report diagnosable levels of psychiatric symptoms also report more involvement in acts of violence toward others than the general population reports. An even stronger association emerges, however, between being a victim of violence and having a mental illness (Desmarais et al. 2014, Teplin et al. 2005), with individuals with mental illness at least three times more likely to be targets than to be perpetrators of violence (Choe et al. 2008). Several studies have also indicated that, among people with severe psychiatric illness, recent violent victimization is one of the best predictors of imminent violence risk (Hiday et al. 2001, Johnson et al. 2016, ten Have et al. 2014).

The most basic lesson of this epidemiological literature is that the overwhelming majority of people with mental illness are not violent and the majority of people who are violent do not have identifiable mental illness (Choe et al. 2008). Because an overwhelming percentage of people with mental illness are not violent, and because the occurrence of serious mental illness is relatively low, it is estimated that only about 4% of criminal violence can reasonably be attributed to mentally ill individuals (Metzl & MacLeish 2015, Swanson 1996). This means that even if all of the association between mental illness and violence could somehow be eliminated, we would still have to confront 96% of the violence in the United States (Swanson 2008, 2015).

Studies exploring gun violence by people with mental illness are limited, likely due to the rarity of this type of violence. One study has shown that gun violence by people with severe mental illness occurs in 2% or less of patients in the year after discharge from inpatient settings; rates may be lower among less acute patients (Steadman et al. 2015). Clearly, there is a fairly small nexus at the intersection of people who are mentally ill, armed, and potentially violent. Again, even if all of these individuals could be identified and stopped from engaging in gun violence, the impact on the overall level of gun violence would not be substantial. At a population level, it seems that the designation of being "mentally ill" does little to identify a useful group for targeted violence prevention policy.

From the results of group comparison studies, it is apparent that the estimated relationship between involvement in violence and the presence of a mental illness varies considerably depending on the type of disorder examined and the methodology used. Serious mental illnesses, such as schizophrenia and depression, generally show associations that are several times weaker than those seen in more behaviorally based diagnoses, such as substance abuse or antisocial personality disorders (Elbogen & Johnson 2009, Oakley et al. 2009, Steadman et al. 1998). There is some evidence that individuals experiencing first-episode psychosis could be at elevated risk for involvement in violence, with levels of involvement about 3-5 times what might be expected (Large & Nielssen 2011, Winsper et al. 2013). In addition, meta-analyses show considerable variation among estimates of association related to study design features and evaluation of moderating risk factors (Fazel et al. 2009, Fazel & Yu 2009, Witt et al. 2013). Although a majority of studies show an association between serious mental illnesses and subsequent arrests for violence, some field studies using self-report methods (Lidz et al. 1993, Monahan et al. 2001) show that individuals with serious mental illness alone have no higher likelihood of violence than their neighbors.

2.2. Substance Use and Violence

A number of studies identify substance use and substance use disorders as particularly strong factors increasing the chance that an individual with a mental illness will get involved in violence (Mulvey et al. 2006, Swanson et al. 1990). The self-report studies cited in the previous section (Lidz et al. 1993, Monahan et al. 2001, Steadman et al. 1998) indicate that individuals diagnosed with both a mental illness and a substance use disorder have a higher prevalence of involvement in violence than their neighbors. Other investigations also indicate that increased levels of substance use are associated with increased likelihood of violence in patients in the community (Skeem et al. 2004), and comorbid mental illness is often considered a critical risk factor for violence among people with substance use disorders (Chen & Wu 2016). Illicit substance use is associated with firearm violence in particular, especially when that substance use is also associated with involvement in illegal drug sales (McGinty et al. 2016a). Another review has identified a series of intersections between violence risk and alcohol use, including alcohol intoxication as a risk factor for being shot, firearm suicide, and accidental firearm injury (Branas et al. 2016).

2.3. Psychosocial Risk Factors and Violence

The literature on psychosocial risk factors for violence also indicates that certain characteristics of an individual, e.g., age, socioeconomic status, and prior criminal involvement, are much more statistically predictive of involvement in violence than the presence of a mental illness (Bonta et al. 1998). The power of mental illness as a predictor diminishes greatly when these characteristics are taken into account (Elbogen & Johnson 2009, Prins et al. 2015, Skeem et al. 2014). This is most likely the case because mental illness and mental deterioration are rarely seen as the major forces behind involvement in violence (Mulvey et al. 2006). Most violent incidents involving individuals with a mental illness involve either a family member or a close acquaintance (Newhill et al. 1995, Steadman et al. 1998) and are usually embedded in a history of tumultuous encounters. Moreover, examination of crimes involving individuals with mental illness indicate that less than 20% of them are directly preceded by exacerbated symptoms of the illness (Peterson et al. 2014). It is rare that the presence of a mental illness is a dispositive explanation for an act of violence (Monahan & Steadman 2012, Skeem et al. 2016). Mental illness is one factor in a person's life that is sometimes relevant to involvement in violence, but it is very rarely the only factor, or even a causal factor.

A particularly salient social and contextual factor to consider for its relation to violence in mentally ill individuals is exposure to and involvement in DV. Assessment and screening for current or prior DV has become a standard of care in most clinical disciplines, and mental health professionals are regularly called on to provide interventions for offenders despite the relatively small impact of most DV interventions (Babcock et al. 2004). An estimated 30% of patients in treatment have been victims of DV, with women with depression or anxiety at the highest risk (Oram et al. 2013, Trevillion et al. 2012). This issue is clearly within the purview of mental health care and offers an opportunity for the prevention of violence.

It is clear that the social dynamics of DV situations are particularly relevant to assessing and preventing patient violence. Violence involving people with mental illness—both as targets and as perpetrators—is far more likely to involve family members or acquaintances (Buila & Marley 2001, Estroff et al. 1998). Similarly, 90% of women who are murdered are killed by a person they know, and half of these are victims of a current or former partner or spouse (Catalano et al. 2009). In contrast, a recent meta-analysis places the risk of being killed by a stranger with severe psychotic illness at 1 in 14 million per year (Nielssen et al. 2011).

This review of the literature about the correlates of violence in individuals with mental illness highlights the importance of recognizing the social context surrounding an individual and fluctuations in the state of an individual's illness. Categorization of individuals by illness appears to introduce a large amount of interindividual heterogeneity on factors relevant to the occurrence of violence, and as a result, the use of psychiatric diagnosis or symptom level alone has very limited utility as a tool for the prediction of violence risk (Rozel et al. 2017). Numerous factors can increase violence risk in people with mental illness, including prior criminal or violent behavior, prior victimization, substance use and intoxication, nonadherence with treatment, and the presence of other psychosocial stressors such as economic distress and housing instability (Swanson et al. 2014).

This reality calls for approaches to identifying individuals at risk in terms of their social context and fluctuations in their life situation and behavior over time (Mulvey & Lidz 1995). Mental illnesses progress, deteriorate, stabilize, or get better with time and circumstance; they are a condition, not an indicator of a person's unique dangerousness (Adam 2013). Like pulmonary disorders or heart conditions, mental illness must be managed to avoid decompensation and the harm that might occur during those periods of decompensation. Approaches that frame risk as an interaction of both static (or set) aspects of a person (such as history of prior violence or victimization) and dynamic (or shifting over time) factors (such as level of substance use or decreased emotion regulation) align with the greater body of the research on the factors related to violence in individuals with and without mental illness (Douglas & Skeem 2005). This framework can lead to actionable interventions to limit violence risk and address gun violence more effectively. However, any of these approaches would also present new challenges for mental health professionals.

3. THE SOCIAL AND LEGAL CONTEXT OF GUN OWNERSHIP IN THE UNITED STATES

3.1. Gun Ownership and Gun Owners

Any meaningful framing of the problem of gun violence—and any hope of enacting meaningful interventions—must be rooted in an understanding of the social and legal context of gun ownership in the United States. Not examining and appreciating these influences would be a major oversight for those interested in designing interventions to limit the tragedies of gun violence. As demonstrated in many other areas, the gap between efficacy and effectiveness is often determined by the ground truth: where clinical professionals work and their patients live. Clinical and public health interventions to mitigate gun violence are no different: They will only succeed if they accommodate or overcome intrinsic legal or sociocultural barriers. Unfortunately, few topics are currently as politicized and polarizing as the gun control/gun rights debate. The emotional nature of this debate almost inevitably engenders strong and often extreme beliefs in both policy makers and the public, which may not accurately reflect research evidence or the likely effectiveness of particular interventions.

The first clear fact is that gun ownership is common. Although gun ownership by household seems to have declined over the past 30 years, rates remain above 30% (Morin 2014, Smith & Son 2015), with well over 300 million guns in private hands (Ingraham 2015). Firearms can be easily acquired from licensed gun dealers or through private transfers, the latter often bypassing any opportunity for a background check. Moreover, gun ownership can be concentrated: Half of gun owners have four or more firearms (Hepburn et al. 2007). Ownership rates vary significantly by a number of factors: by demographic characteristics of a locale, by state (from a low of 5.2% in Delaware to 61.7% in Alaska), and by self-identified affiliation with gun culture (Kalesan et al.

2016). Most (60%) of gun owners identify self-defense as a reason for gun ownership, with hunting sport, and target shooting also commonly endorsed (Swift 2013).

There are also some clear patterns regarding the possible consequences of gun ownership. The number and rates of incidents of gun violence, especially firearm homicides, have been decreasing steadily over the past few decades (Fowler et al. 2015, Wintemute 2015). When researchers have examined relative accessibility—by, for example, comparing gun-owning household with nongun-owning households or comparing states with high versus low gun ownership rates—they have found that elevated rates of gun access in households are associated with increased risk of homicide and suicide over time by household and at a population level (Fowler et al. 2015; Kellermann et al. 1992, 1993; Miller et al. 2002, 2006). This is particularly important because access to firearms by DV perpetrators is a critical risk factor in DV-related homicides (Campbell et al. 2003). In addition, a law enforcement officer in a state with a high gun ownership rate is three times as likely to be shot and killed during their work (Swedler et al. 2015).

It should also be noted that high gun ownership rates do not appear to convey any meaningful protection against violent victimization at a population level. The idea that increased firearm ownership leads to decreased crime (Lott 2010, Plassmann & Whitley 2003) does not appear to hold up to rigorous analysis (Natl. Res. Counc. 2004; Donohue & Ayres 2003, 2009), and international studies instead suggest that handgun ownership is associated with increased risk of violent victimization (van Kesteren 2014). Although the issue remains controversial, the hypothesis can, at best, be described as unconfirmed, and self-defense alone is a weak argument for increased or easy gun access.

3.2. Legal Issues

The second significant point to recognize is that gun ownership is legal; this is unlikely to change in the foreseeable future. The United States is one of three countries to have a Constitutionally protected right to firearms (Elkins 2013). The Second Amendment to the US Constitution, ratified into law in 1791, reads, "A well-regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State, the right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed." Although private citizens' access to weapons has been a point of contention since the earliest participatory governments of Greece and Rome (Halbrook 2013), the debate in the United States has become markedly pitched in the past 25 years. Increased media coverage of shootings; changes in the quantity, variety, and costs of firearms widely available for purchase; changes in the priorities of certain national advocacy groups; and a number of significant court rulings have all contributed to making this a currently volatile topic (Wilson 2016).

One of the central points of contention has been whether the Second Amendment protected the right of individuals to own firearms in general or only in the context of their role in a militia or other state-related function. Removing any doubt on this matter, the US Supreme Court affirmed that the right to bear arms is an individual right not to be unduly limited by federal or state law (District of Columbia v. Heller 2008, McDonald v. City of Chicago 2010). These rulings are significant because they establish that the right is for the individual (i.e., attachment to a militia is not pertinent) and make clear that the protection expressly extends to firearms well-suited for self-defense—that is, the very revolvers and semiautomatic handguns used in more than 70% of criminal gun homicides (https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2014/ crime-in-the-u.s.-2014/tables/expanded-homicide-data/expanded_homicide_data_table_ 8_murder_victims_by_weapon_2010-2014.xls).

Both Heller and McDonald acknowledge that some limitations on firearm access may be reasonable for persons with clearly identified risks. Specifically, the Court stated that their decision was not meant to eliminate "the longstanding prohibitions on the possession of firearms by . . . the mentally ill" (District of Columbia v. Heller 2008). The case, however, did not present the necessity for the court to address exactly how these restrictions on the mentally ill would be constructed or the appropriate limits of the restrictions that might be imposed. Current state and federal standards limit access to firearms for people in a number of categories other than the mentally ill, including prior violent felons and people with addiction issues. The standard method for enforcing the restrictions on sales to individuals with mental illness is to have states transmit records of involuntary commitments for potential harm to self or others to a centralized federal data base, the National Instant Criminal Background Check System (NICS). This database must be consulted by federally licensed gun dealers to determine if an individual should be disqualified from purchasing a weapon.

There have been several problems with using this system for limiting purchases by mentally ill individuals. First, of course, is the fact that many purchases do not occur in situations where a background check is required. In most states, private purchases between individuals, transactions at gun shows, or sales of certain types of weapons (e.g., long guns) do not require checks. Second, the enduring wording of the criteria for restricting sale because of mental illness, i.e., the Gun Control Act of 1968's exclusion of people who have been "adjudicated as a mental defective" [18 USC. § 922(d)(4)], has been quite complex in execution. This phrase has been generally translated as barring the purchase of firearms from a federally or state-licensed dealer by individuals who have been involuntarily committed (either at any point in life or within a stated prior time period). Standards and procedures for involuntary commitment vary considerably from state to state, however, making the standard far from uniform. Third, many states have been very slow to provide data to the registry. Estimates indicate that, before 2007, states had sent only a negligible number of their mental health commitment reports to the federal government (Liu et al. 2013). Reporting is still far from complete (Swanson et al. 2014).

Although broad revocation of the personal right to bear arms could occur either through subsequent court review or by constitutional amendment, neither seems likely or imminent. Continued acceptance of screening for appropriate denials at the point of purchase is the accepted compromise position on this issue. Thus, one may reasonably discard the notion of broad bans on firearms, seizures of existing firearms, or similar interventions as practical measures to reduce gun violence.

Despite the common and nearly clichéd calls for major overhaul of gun laws in the wake of highly publicized tragedies, substantial revisions rarely, if ever, occur. This trend is often the direct result of the fact that most gun laws are state statutes and, as such, affected by political party control of state legislatures. Moreover, many newly enacted gun laws seem to broaden rights rather than restrict them, possibly in reaction to fear of the loss of gun rights (Luca et al. 2016). Highly publicized shootings drive sharp increases in gun sales, as do new gun laws or court rulings, regardless of whether the law or ruling is restrictive or expansive (Aisch & Keller 2016). Given the array of political, social, and legal barriers, it is likely that any call for a broad ban on firearms would have negligible likelihood for success and may, thus, be an unwise application of political capital.

3.3. Gun Culture

Part of the reason that broad statutory changes regarding gun ownership are often met with deep resistance is that they are seen as more than just an attempt to revise a set of regulations; they are often seen as a threat to a way of life or culture. Many individuals who own guns are part of a gun culture that can be difficult for outsiders to understand. Fully grasping or appreciating this aspect of gun ownership may be particularly hard for mental health professionals. No reliable study examining relative ownership rates by profession—i.e., whether psychologists and other

mental health professionals own guns at similar rates as the general population—seems to exist. It seems fair to assume, however, that firearm ownership by mental health professionals may be lower than that of the general population, based simply on demographics and related attitudes. This creates a situation that tests mental health professionals' capacities to integrate respect for these differing cultural beliefs into their practice.

Defining and testing the impact of gun culture on gun ownership and attitudes toward firearm regulation is a difficult task. In general, it seems that there is a sense of identity among firearm owners and enthusiasts that is often anchored in a shared enjoyment of owning and using firearms, often tied to family traditions, personal beliefs, and social relationships. The values of the community of gun enthusiasts have shifted over time, and the current trend appears to be increased identification as a persecuted group (Somerset 2015).

Most relevant to the discussion here, a sizable number of gun owners perceive health and mental health professionals as hostile to their interests, values, and rights (Wheeler 2015). Focused training for these professionals on firearm-related issues has been limited (Price & Khubchandani 2016, Traylor et al. 2010). The stage is set for professionals to enter discussions about firearms with limited comfort and competence, which seems an invitation for misunderstandings. Cultural blindness on the part of mental health professionals may lead to failures in engaging the patient, understanding their interests, and communicating useful health information to them or their family (Radant & Johnson 2003, Shaughnessy et al. 1999). Effective work by clinicians with gun owners is increasingly seen as a cross-cultural problem and will require careful integration of both a quantitative understanding of gun violence and a qualitative understanding of the interests of gun owners (Betz & Wintemute 2015).

4. CURRENT POLICY INITIATIVES ADDRESSING GUN VIOLENCE AND MENTAL ILLNESS

4.1. Screening Firearm Purchasers

Most of the current legal and policy efforts relating to mental illness and firearm violence revolve around limiting access by screening at the time of purchase. As mentioned above, this approach requires background checks on individuals purchasing firearms at a federally registered dealer. If the person has a record of involuntary commitment in the NICS, the seller is required to deny the sale.

Of the more than one million denials of potential purchasers since the inception of the NICS program, mental health issues account for only 1.4% (Crim. Justice Inf. Serv. Div. 2015). Only a small proportion of the people on the NICS have mental health exclusions, and these rarely produce a denial for purchase. The exclusions apply only to people who have been adjudicated incompetent—generally through a judicially ordered involuntary commitment or guardianship or who have criminal dispositions such as not guilty by reason of insanity. The rate of reporting to NICS and the rate of denial of purchase for this criterion have increased considerably since 2007 (Swanson 2015), but 13 states and territories do not use the federal NICS program at all and another seven only use it for certain types of firearms (Crim. Justice Inf. Serv. Div. 2015). Until the NICS Improvement Amendment Act of 2008, significant operational barriers and conceptual ambiguity remained about what data could and could not be reported to the database because of confidentiality; there remain concerns that past records have not been thoroughly reported (Liu

In 2014, the federal NICS system provided 3,772,583 background checks, approving 98% of those sales. Of the denials, approximately 3,600 potential purchasers were stopped by NICS from

purchasing firearms due to mental health issues; these individuals made up 3.9% of all denials through NICS that year (Crim. Justice Inf. Serv. Div. 2015). Substantially less is known about the disposition of the remainder of the 8,500,000 new firearms manufactured and shipped to US dealers for sale that year (Bur. Alcohol Tob. Firearms Explos. 2015).

Although these screening processes do not appear to have a substantial impact on overall gun violence rates, it appears that they can have an impact on the small sector of gun violence involving people with severe mental illness. A recent study (Swanson et al. 2016) used public records over an 8-year period to examine gun disqualifications and arrests for violent gun crimes as well as firearm suicides for a sample of people receiving publicly funded treatment for severe mental illness. This study found that the implementation of an increased level of NICS reporting of involuntary commitment incidents (in 2007) led to a substantial reduction in the rate of arrest for violent crime for individuals who had, in fact, been involuntarily committed. The level of violent crime in gun-disqualified persons was below that of others with mental illness who were never disqualified. Being denied a gun purchase based on the history of involuntary commitment alone, however, only accounted for 13% of the disqualifications of those who had a prior involuntary commitment and were arrested for a violent crime; 52% of these individuals were disqualified by virtue of a prior criminal record issue. Thus, the narrow criteria of involuntary commitment as an excluding factor affected a relatively small proportion of the patients who went on to engage in significant violence; past history of criminality would have disqualified these individuals (Swanson et al. 2016).

Federal law and most states permit private transfer of firearms between two people, bypassing licensed dealers and background checks. An estimated 40% of firearm transfers occur as private transactions, and an estimated 90% of guns used in crimes came from resold firearms (Wintemute et al. 2010). Private sales at gun shows often take place even when a potential purchaser explicitly indicates that they would not pass a background check. Some states with enhanced regulation of gun show sales limit such transactions (Wintemute 2013).

Some states criminalize the knowing transfer of a firearm to a person who is disqualified from possessing a firearm. Such laws are neither common nor commonly understood, limiting their utility in preventing disqualified people with mental illness from obtaining firearms (Fowler 2001). Prosecution of people who violate such laws also seems to be rare (Sterzer 2012; http:// smartgunlaws.org/gun-laws/policy-areas/background-checks/categories-of-prohibitedpeople/).

Private sales and transfers of firearms are easily facilitated through online services. Popular platforms such as Facebook and Instagram have had varying numbers of private sales facilitated through their sites, but recently took steps to limit facilitation of private sales of firearms. Some sites are entirely focused on firearm sales and allow searching based on region, identifying private sales opportunities where background checks are less likely or not legally required (Daniels 2013). Such activities continue despite some limitations instituted by certain sites, and an emerging concern is that these methods of purchase may be serving as a conduit for heavy armament to militias in international conflicts. Private sales of semiautomatic handguns and rifles are routine through some of these websites, with potentially tragic outcomes; it is chilling to think what could happen with transfers of military-grade ordinance (Chivers 2016).

Overall, screening of new purchasers of firearms provides minimal incremental decreases in rates of gun violence by people with severe mental illness and a history of commitment. The coverage of screening practices and their impact are low. Further, such benefits may be comparatively small when one considers the relative ease with which a person can obtain firearms through private sales and Internet-facilitated sales without undergoing a background check.

4.2. Removal After a Prohibiting Event

Several states have statutory provisions that allow for removal of firearms from previously lawful gun owners after a disqualifying event, such as an involuntary hospitalization. Most states obligate a newly prohibited firearm owner to transfer any guns in their possession to a lawful owner within a certain time frame after an event, but there is usually no process to confirm that this transfer has occurred. Only four states—California, Connecticut, Texas, and Indiana—have provisions allowing law enforcement officers to proactively remove firearms at the time of or after a disqualifying event (e.g., an officer who takes a person into custody on an emergency commitment can confiscate firearms at that time) (http://smartgunlaws.org/gun-laws/policy-areas/background-checks/categories-of-prohibited-people/).

Removal of firearms by law enforcement after such disqualifying events is challenging. It is often unclear which agency—if any—would have the authority or responsibility to remove the firearms. There is significant variability in how different jurisdictions enumerate and enforce such laws, and many departments lack clear policies or standards that address this issue (Int. Assoc. Chiefs Police 2007).

Gun violence restraining orders (GVROs) are an alternate pathway to removal established recently in several states. This mechanism creates a specific court order for the removal of firearms from a person who may (a) be a prohibited possessor under state or federal standards who has not voluntarily released custody of their firearm or (b) have significant risk factors for harming themselves or others with a firearm but not be technically prohibited from having the firearm by other legal standards. Such orders serve as a complementary tool to other prohibitive laws and can be used for people who are identified as posing imminent risk but who do not meet involuntary commitment criteria (Frattaroli et al. 2015). In most instances, one individual seeks an order from a judge for removal of the firearm based on the current state and situation confronting another individual (e.g., heavy drinking with a history of gun-related violence when intoxicated). Additionally, GVROs are not predicated on the presence of a mental illness, which substantially mitigates some of the intrinsic stigma attached to mental illness—specific measures (Wiehl 2014). This innovative strategy for targeted removal requires adequate provisions for weighing the conditions needed to prompt removal and reasonable procedures for reinstating ownership rights (McGinty et al. 2014a). There are no current empirical studies on the effectiveness of this strategy.

A variant of screening and gun removal after a precipitating event is found in the New York Secure Ammunition and Firearms Enforcement Act of 2013 (the NY SAFE Act). This act amended the state mental health law, introducing a requirement for mental health professionals to report individuals to a state registry if, in treating that individual, they "conclude, using reasonable professional judgment, that the individual is likely to engage in conduct that would result in serious harm to self or others" [Ment. Health Proced. Act at §9.46(b)]. The report is reviewed by a county official. If approved by the county official, the database for gun permits is then searched to see if that individual has a current permit. If so, the permit is revoked and the gun is seized. The individual is then barred from obtaining a permit until it is reinstated in a revocation hearing.

Systematic research on the effectiveness of the provisions in the NY SAFE Act regarding mental health professionals' reporting of dangerous individuals has not been conducted. As emphasized above, the likelihood of such provisions having a significant impact on the overall level of gun violence is extremely low. Whether such a statute can have an impact on gun violence or suicide involving individuals with mental illness is the most logical, but methodologically thorny, question that must be addressed. There are also concerns about possible unintended effects, including an undermining of therapeutic relationships, reductions in high-risk individuals seeking treatment, restrictions on clinical discretion in handling potentially violent or suicidal situations, and increased

stigma of mentally ill individuals. Sound information about the overall effects of clinical reporting requirements, as exemplified in this law, would be a valuable addition to the current debate on the topic of mental illness and gun violence.

4.3. Prohibitions on Asking About Access to Firearms

Other statutory efforts related to clinical practice and gun violence have been instituted, but primarily with the intent of limiting the intrusion of mental health professionals on this issue rather than encouraging their involvement. The Florida Firearm Owner's Privacy Act of 2011– colloquially known as the "Docs and Glocks" law-creates disciplinary sanctions for licensed health care professionals who ask about or document ownership of firearms by their patients. Part of the rationale for this law is the suggestion that firearm safety counseling by professionals may increase the risk of people being attacked by limiting an individual's access to a self-defense weapon (Paola 2001). The notion of widespread use of firearms in self-defense, however, has been widely and repeatedly debunked (e.g., Hemenway & Solnick 2015).

The main purported merit of such legislation is that it protects patient privacy around the Constitutionally protected and potentially stigmatized act of owning a firearm. It is unclear, however, why this specific line of inquiry would be prohibited while other inquiries about stigmatized acts, Constitutionally protected or otherwise, are routine. For example, inquiries about sexual orientation, gender identity, and drug and alcohol use are often routinely expected in clinical assessments.

The impact of legal curbs on health professionals asking and counseling about firearm safety remains unclear, but it seems unlikely that this policy will decrease firearm violence and other injuries in people with mental illness. The impact for mental health professionals seems obvious and substantial. Although it should generally be easy to justify such an inquiry, the potential threat of professional sanctions would seem to discourage it, even in the face of clear evidence that asking about guns and discussing safe gun practices can produce a significant reduction in suicides (Brent et al. 2000, 2013).

5. TOWARD SOUND POLICY

There are many well-considered policy recommendations in the clinical and legal literature about how to address the overlap of mental illness, firearms, and violence. This section examines some of the more common approaches in terms of their likely utility and justifications. There are still a number of unanswered questions to address in this area that could focus the next round of policy suggestions.

5.1. Characteristics of an Optimal Policy

Not all policies are created equal, and relative merit is not always obvious or disconnected from basic values. Although the major aim of public health policies is to reduce disability and illness or to promote positive outcomes within a specific population, these policies are often enacted in a way that curtails the liberties of members of that same population. Policies aimed at preventing gun violence are particularly complicated because they often promote broad public health benefit at the expense of some of the most basic liberties. As such, very specific criteria must be met a priori for a policy in this area to be both ethical and effective (Childress et al. 2002).

One requirement of an ethical public health policy is broad impact. Funding interventions that only address the needs of a small segment of the population are an expensive and inefficient use of cognitive, political, and financial resources and should be avoided. One could reasonably suggest that an intervention that only targets firearm violence risk by people with severe mental illness but ignores or has no impact on the other health needs of people with mental illness or does not mitigate other types of violence would be narrowly targeted. That is not to say that such a narrow target is unreasonable, but limited resources may be better spent on interventions that would have broader impact. Ideally, policies directed at the intersection of mental illness and gun violence should have significant benefits along the fuller spectrum of needs of people with mental illness or reduce a broader swath of potential violence.

Interventions should ideally be evidence based or at least reflect the best understanding of existing evidence. When there are rapidly emerging threats to public health, there may be a clear and pressing need to provide interventions that are untested (e.g., in the response to rapidly emerging infectious diseases such as Zika). Firearm violence, however, is not a novel or rapidly emerging threat and would not seem to qualify for this exemption from the need to be grounded in—or at the very least not expressly contrary to—known empirical evidence.

Interventions should also recognize that implementation of some interventions proceed quite differently in the real world than in a lab. Interventions targeting mental health, firearms, and violence need to take into account the heterogeneity of violence, the importance of non-mental-health risk factors for violence in people with mental illness, and the political and practical challenges of any intervention attempting to shift the ownership or use of the 300 million privately owned firearms in the United States. The real-world constraints in fashioning effective policy on firearm violence and individuals with mental illness cannot be downplayed.

Finally, any intervention needs to be assessed in terms of the balance of potential clinical benefit against the abrogation of rights. Whether by utilitarian or deontological standards, a public policy to mitigate violence risk must have an acceptable cost in terms of the civil rights of individuals. The test is not whether the policy or intervention is cost free in terms of rights but, instead, how expensive and expansive it is in the limitations it might create.

5.2. Ineffective Approaches

Many commonly proposed interventions for firearm violence fail to meet the above criteria for sound policy investments. Some interventions have a focus that is too narrow. Bans on assault weapons and large-capacity magazines would have a small, though delayed, impact on some mass shootings but only a negligible impact on most firearm violence. Achieving these meager benefits would require significant political and fiscal outlay to enact legislation and craft restrictions that could not be easily bypassed by manufacturers.

Some proposed policies are largely shaped by stigma or inflame stigma to such a degree that the ethical costs would outweigh any nominal benefit. Proposals for blanket bans of access to firearms for people with mental illness or extended hospitalization fail to pass the aforementioned criteria at multiple levels. The interventions are overly broad given the rarity of violence by people with mental illness; the net effect would be broad denial of rights to most people with mental illness who are not dangerous while leaving most firearm violence unaddressed. Such policy proposals scapegoat people with mental illness and have the potential to expand rather than correct stigma and bias (Corrigan et al. 2005).

Similarly, calls to broadly ban or abolish firearms are also grossly impractical for the United States. Although state-sponsored gun buyback programs have been successful in Australia (Chapman et al. 2016), they seem unlikely to be even remotely successful in the United States. In addition to the constitutional protection of ownership and high numbers of firearms in civilian hands, which create practical obstacles, a buyback program would also be unlikely to have

a substantial impact on violent crime. While studies are challenging to conduct, most firearms intercepted in criminal investigation appear to have been illegally acquired (Fabio et al. 2016) and, thus, seem unlikely to be easily surrendered.

Some interventions, though, may be more promising. There are several policy changes that could affect the level of firearm violence by people with mental illness and have a potentially positive impact on other types of violence and other risks such as suicide.

5.3. Potentially Effective Interventions

Several interventions would appear to meet Childress et al.'s (2002) criteria for effectiveness and proportional impact. Outlined in the following sections are potential public policy initiatives based in evidence and specifically intended to target the intersection of mental illness, firearms, and violence.

5.3.1. Expanded funding streams for well-designed objective research on firearm violence and violence prevention. It is difficult to take informed action when there is so little information about gun violence in general and gun violence in individuals with mental illness in particular. The ban on federally funded research on firearm violence in the United States has left many critical questions unanswered. Careful evaluation of comparative efficacy of firearm legislation in different jurisdictions is promising (Rostron 2016, Swanson et al. 2016) but often underfunded. Prospective studies to evaluate violence and suicide risk factors among firearm owners could help clarify the processes of gun ownership and use and identify potential high-risk groups. Improved legal and funding structures to promote and simplify retrospective evaluation of how people engage in violence, looking for differences relating to mental illness and other factors, could provide guidance for more refined clinical practice.

5.3.2. Promotion of safer storage as a standard goal. Much as reproductive health education professionals have moved from the overly reassuring notion of safe sex in favor of that of safer sex, professionals should shift from the idea of safe storage and removal to that of safer storage. These discussions have already occurred regarding ways to reduce suicide risk (Mann & Michel 2016, Stanley et al. 2016), with many clinicians—and, for that matter, firearm owners, policy makers, and other stakeholders—presenting gun access in stark and realistic terms. Guns, if present in the home, are dangerous; absence of guns in the home is not dangerous. The reality is that, in a nation with 300 million firearms, guns are easily accessed through dealers, private sales, or sharing among friends. The absence of a gun in a patient's home should provide little assurance that the patient would have any difficulty accessing firearms elsewhere. Improving tools and practices for safer storage (e.g., locks, safes, or even use of smart gun technology) may limit impulsive acts of aggression or suicide, but can still be breached by a determined actor.

The resistance to these initiatives is strong. Most firearm owners identify personal or family safety as a factor in gun ownership (Swift 2013), and even a simple lock or safe can impede access to a firearm in an emergency. This resistance, however, does not make the discussion of such issues futile. Open and frank discussion of relative risks and benefits may be useful in clinical settings, introducing the issue of safe storage as a reasonable compromise to competing needs. This is the basic building block of a series of reasonable changes in clinical care that could promote reductions in firearm violence in individuals with mental illness.

5.3.3. Assessment of firearm access and effective counseling about risk as a standard of care. It has become increasingly accepted that firearm access, as an element of general health and

mental health assessment, is an ethically and clinically appropriate domain of interest for health care professionals (Betz & Wintemute 2015, Butkus et al. 2014, Laine et al. 2013, Wintemute et al. 2016). Formal enumeration and acceptance of this principle in the form of practice guidelines from major mental, public, and physical health institutions would certainly promote this reform in practice.

5.3.4. Development and distribution of evidence-based education on effective firearm safety counseling practices for clinicians. Establishment of gun safety counseling as part of core or continuing educational requirements for licensed practitioners could promote such efforts. For example, requirements to have a minimal level of education time spent on firearm safety or violence management or minimum standards for new trainees relating to firearm safety and violence management would promote the acceptance of firearm safety counseling being a standard of care.

One of the common critiques of counseling on firearm safety by health professionals is that highquality training on such activities is difficult to find (Price et al. 2015), even though appropriate and effective educational strategies and resources have been developed (Brown & Goldman 1998, McGee et al. 2003, Rozel et al. 2015, Slovak & Brewer 2010). Getting these methods into the hands of clinicians and endorsing their use is an essential step toward reducing firearm violence in cases appearing in the mental health system.

5.3.5. Evidence-based education on effective firearm safety practices for gun owners and family members of persons with mental illness. Although the effectiveness of widely available firearm safety training for youth is questionable (Gatheridge et al. 2004, Himle et al. 2004, Jackman et al. 2001), this does not eliminate the necessity to develop more sound approaches for enlisting and educating those closest to individuals at risk. All of these efforts would benefit from explicit statutory protection for health professionals' freedom of speech when they communicate evidencebased information and their interpretation thereof to patients.

5.3.6. Development of evidence-based education on effective firearm safety practices and on recognizing mental illness and acute mental health emergencies for firearm dealers. We have limited systematic data on the link between recent firearm purchase and suicide risk (Wintemute et al. 1999); we have even less on the link between recent firearm purchase and violence toward others. It is possible, however, that interventions aimed at processes other than just screening at the point of purchase might reduce dangerous sales. For example, the expansion of mental health training for firearm dealers—programs such as those implemented by the New Hampshire Firearms Safety Coalition (Vriniotis et al. 2015) or Mental Health First Aid trainingcould promote screening and intervention by licensed dealers in situations where a sale might be related to a mental health crisis.

5.3.7. Establishment of gun safety counseling as part of core or continuing educational requirements for licensed practitioners. States have an array of continuing education requirements for licensed health professionals; common required topics may include child abuse, safety and quality, pain management, or other topics often stipulated by state legislatures. Enacting requirements to spend a minimal level of education time on firearm safety or violence management may be beneficial. Additionally, agencies responsible for the national accreditation of training programs might consider developing minimum standards for new trainees relating to firearm safety and violence management.

5.3.8. Establishment of national best practices guidelines on evaluation for expungement.

Many states provide a legal pathway for a person prohibited from owning or acquiring a firearm to have those rights restored. Not all of these states, however, require any type of mental health evaluation as part of that process. Clarifying and routinizing these procedures can provide safeguards for appropriate gun access, promotion of safe storage, and conditions for continued ownership related to clinical concerns.

It may seem counterintuitive to think that promoting restoration of firearm rights to people previously excluded from firearm ownership for mental illness reasons could be seen as a prevention initiative. However, given the earlier observation that individuals with mental illness go through periods when risk of violence may be reduced or elevated, it is reasonable to see the restoration process as an opportunity to promote safe practices and monitoring for such periods. In addition, reasonable restoration procedures might enhance reporting. Clinicians—as well as law enforcement officers, hospital administrators, and judges—may be reticent to involuntarily hospitalize a person out of a concern that such a commitment may infringe on that individual's right to firearms. Although this may be a concern about Second Amendment rights in the abstract, it may also be a more specific concern about the negative effect that a commitment might have on a gun enthusiast or a person who has or aspires to a career in law enforcement or the military. Such reticence may ensure that an untreated or undertreated person with mental illness still has largely unfettered access to firearms, an obviously counterproductive outcome. A consensus-based standard for restoration of rights to gun ownership, if reasonable and practical, could better protect the rights of people with mental illness and potentially decrease the stigma attached to involuntary hospitalization.

5.3.9. Improved legal tools for temporary removal and safe storage of firearms during periods of crisis. Clarifications in the procedures for reinstating rights to own a firearm would be most effective if they operated in conjunction with a clear set of rules about the removal and safe storage of firearms for individuals in times of emotional or psychiatric crisis. As mentioned above, some individuals in acute mental health crisis should not have access to firearms, and some individuals with a history of violence and repeated criminal acts should also be limited in their access (McGinty et al. 2014a). Prior violence in general, intimate partner violence in particular, and recurring substance use stand out as highly sensitive risk factors for people both with and without mental illness. Stricter processes to prohibit firearm access or trigger heightened review of potential mental illness in people with these risk factors may help curb access to firearms and mitigate future harm. For example, a misdemeanor domestic violence charge in a person with known substance use or mental illness issues may be considered adequate for prohibitingtemporarily or permanently—that person from owning firearms even if the individual risk factors would not reach the threshold for firearm prohibition on their own.

The current, broad-brush approach of limiting gun sales to individuals with a history of commitment, however, does little to accommodate either the definition of people likely to use firearms violently or the reality of the fluctuating risk states of people who might do so. Legislation that allows for the removal of firearms during times of crisis in validated high-risk groups should produce a more targeted and effective use of the state's power. In addition, although individuals who have firearms removed can improvise arrangements with friends or family or place them in storage, they may still be relatively accessible, or the individual may not have such resources. Permitting law enforcement agencies or licensed gun dealers to temporarily store and secure firearms for such persons, in conjunction with well-delineated processes allowing input from mental health professionals on removal and return, could be significantly beneficial.

More focused efforts such as these would also require improved legal tools and incentives for active or confirmed removal of firearms after disqualifying events. Few law enforcement agencies are permitted or willing to enter a person's home to search for or remove firearms after a disqualifying event, such as a domestic violence arrest or terroristic threat. Legal requirements and adequate resources for law enforcement to actively remove firearms in such situations need to be in place to allow for targeted removal of firearms. If a person does not voluntarily give up possession of firearms within a reasonable time after a disqualifying event, application of civil forfeiture principles to confiscated firearms may provide added incentive to encourage active law enforcement intervention.

5.3.10. Exclusion of firearms from bars and other areas where alcohol or substance use is common or expected. Numerous studies, presented above, have identified strong links among substance use, particularly alcohol use (Mulvey et al. 2006), violence, and firearm violence. Oddly, some states have taken steps to expressly permit or encourage concealed or open carry of firearms in bars. The promotion of laws and policies with the exact opposite intent would seem to make sense in light of the weight of available evidence. Potentially, such efforts could take advantage of the integration of firearm and alcohol regulation through offices such as the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives.

5.3.11. Clear media reporting guidelines for major violent events. Although they were a long time in coming, (Hunt 1845, Sonneck et al. 1994, Bohanna & Wang 2012), there are currently guidelines on reporting about suicides that minimize the risk of copycat suicides and contagion. Similar guidelines could be developed and adopted by major media outlets for ethical reporting of mass shootings and similar events. Links between sensational reporting of mass shootings and copycat events are becoming better established (Cantor et al. 1999, Towers et al. 2015), and early proposals for media guidelines are already being developed (Perrin 2016).

General considerations might include avoiding glamorization of assailants or speculation about motivations or the role of mental illness, as well as avoiding detailed descriptions of injuries or tactical methods that may provide practical guidance to potential copycats. Journalists may, instead, wish to consider emphasizing coverage about the victims and the impact of their loss; the acts of victims, bystanders, and law enforcement officers who intervened; or law enforcement investigation and prosecution of offenders. Task forces integrating media, mental health, violence, and health and media ethics experts would be useful in developing such formal guidelines.

6. CONCLUSION

Guns are ubiquitous, easy to access, and intrinsically linked to both US culture and the risk of suicide, violence, and injury. However, they are not, by and large, a mental health problem. Any intervention focusing on the link between mental illness and violence will have limited impact on overall gun violence. The amount of violence in general, and gun violence in particular, involving mentally ill individuals is so small that focusing on this aspect of the problem is largely a distraction. It can even be argued that interventions for narrow problems like the link between mental illness and gun violence are so ethically and logistically unwieldy that they inevitably spawn inefficient and ineffective approaches to an important public policy and public health issue. It is likely that interventions targeting mental illness and firearm access could have substantial impact on suicide risk, and that benefit should not be minimized or discarded lightly. The focus on violence to others, however, seems misguided if the idea is to fashion broad policy reforms.

This does not mean that mental health professionals can simply ignore firearm policies. Mental health professionals are called upon to help in efforts to reduce the harms associated with firearms. As responsible professionals, we can introduce empirically sound evidence and evidencebased approaches as considerations in the ongoing and often heated dialogue on these issues. We can provide perspective on clinical issues, respond firmly to policies driven by stigma, and promote reasoned and reasonable statutes grounded in our understanding of mental illness and the limitations and potentials of mental health services.

This review makes it clear that this role is likely to expand. Existing and proposed approaches to gun policy call for more refined determinations of the eligibility to access and retain firearms, and many of these determinations will involve mental health professionals. It is becoming increasingly clear that blanket provisions based on factors such as having a prior involuntary commitment are both expensive and ineffective. There are other risk factors that are far more predictive of future violence. Moreover, an examination of current research makes it clear that the link between mental illness and violence resides in fluctuating patterns of risk, not in static categorizations such as diagnosis. This implies that judgments about the current status of individuals will become more relevant to determinations about the ability to buy or retain possession of a firearm. Mental health professionals cannot evade their evolving role in assisting in the determination of useful risk factors and methods for making reasoned judgments about gun ownership.

Mental health professionals will also in all likelihood be called upon to help fashion more useful regulations regarding the provision of clinical care related to gun access and use. Health care professionals will likely be pushed to adopt standards of care related to screening for gun access and counseling about gun safety. Evidence-driven clinical interventions for assessing risk related to firearm access and counseling patients and families will need to be prioritized and disseminated. Evidence-based clinical practices will have to be mirrored and supported by evidence-based public policy. Neither can exist without adequately funded and carefully directed research to strengthen that evidence base.

The current research seems to indicate that mental health professionals must become more actively involved in the formulation of policies and changes in practice that recognize the realities and risk of gun ownership and access. Failure to do so will leave a looming vacuum, which will be readily filled by ill-informed and politically inspired policy makers, leaving our patients and communities vulnerable to ongoing violence.

SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. Firearms and firearm violence are ubiquitous in the United States.
- 2. The intersection of mental illness and firearm violence is limited, but public health opportunities relating to this intersection should not be ignored.
- 3. Media reporting on violence and mental illness drives stigma and misdirected policy efforts.
- 4. Mental illness alone is a weak predictor of violence and firearm violence risk.
- 5. Violence risk in mental illness is driven by active symptom states, comorbid addiction, prior victimization, and other psychosocial risk factors.
- 6. An expanded evidence base is needed to drive improved clinical interventions and health policy recommendations.
- 7. Mental health professionals need to take an assertive role in helping to shape public policy relating to violence, firearms, and mental illness.

FUTURE ISSUES

- 1. Improved research is needed on the pathways from firearm purchase to adverse outcomes such as violence.
- 2. The outcomes of varying firearm policies, as applied across different states and jurisdictions, need to be studied and disseminated.
- 3. Assessing access to firearms and effectively counseling patients and families on firearm safety is a public health imperative and will need to be protected from political incursion.
- 4. Improved health education research on effective strategies for educating clinicians, patients and families, and firearm dealers on safer storage and injury prevention needs to be developed.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

LITERATURE CITED

Adam D. 2013. On the spectrum. Nature 496:416-18

Aisch G, Keller J. 2016. What happens after calls for new gun restrictions? Sales go up. New York Times, June 13. http://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2015/12/10/us/gun-sales-terrorism-obamarestrictions.html

Appelbaum PS. 2013. Public safety, mental disorders, and guns. JAMA Psychiatry 70(6):565-66

Babcock JC, Green CE, Robie C. 2004. Does batterers' treatment work? A meta-analytic review of domestic violence treatment. Clin. Psychol. Rev. 23(8):1023-53

Betz ME, Wintemute GJ. 2015. Physician counseling on firearm safety: a new kind of cultural competence. 7AMA 314(5):449-50

Blair JP, Schweit KW. 2014. A study of active shooter incidents in the United States between 2000 and 2013. Texas State Univ./Fed. Bur. Investig. Rep., San Marcos, TX/Washington, DC

Bohanna I, Wang X. 2012. Media guidelines for the responsible reporting of suicide: a review of effectiveness. Crisis J. Crisis Interv. Suicide Prev. 33(4):190-98

Bonta J, Law M, Hanson K. 1998. The prediction of criminal and violent recidivism among mentally disordered offenders: a meta-analysis. Psychol. Bull. 123(2):123-42

Branas CC, Han S, Wiebe DJ. 2016. Alcohol use and firearm violence. Epidemiol. Rev. 38(1):32-45

Brent DA, Baugher M, Birmaher B, Kolko DJ, Bridge J. 2000. Compliance with recommendations to remove firearms in families participating in a clinical trial for adolescent depression. 7. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 39(10):1220-26

Brent DA, Miller MJ, Loeber R, Mulvey EP, Birmaher B. 2013. Ending the silence on gun violence. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 52(4):333-38

Brown RL, Goldman LS. 1998. Physician Firearm Safety Guide. Chicago: Am. Med. Assoc.

Buila S, Marley JA. 2001. Crimes against people with mental illness: types, perpetrators, and influencing factors. Soc. Work 46(2):115-24

Bur. Alcohol Tob. Firearms Explos. 2015. Annual firearms manufacturing and export report 2014. Dep. Justice Rep., Bur. Alcohol Tob. Firearms Explos., Martinsburg, WV

Butkus R, Doherty R, Daniel H. 2014. Reducing firearm-related injuries and deaths in the United States: executive summary of a policy position paper from the American College of Physicians. Ann. Intern. Med. 160(12):858-60

- Campbell JC, Webster D, Koziol-McLain J, Block C, Campbell D, et al. 2003. Risk factors for femicide in abusive relationships: results from a multisite case control study. *Am. J. Public Health* 93(7):1089–97
- Cantor CH, Sheehan P, Alpers P, Mullen P. 1999. Media and mass homicides. Arch. Suicide Res. 5(4):283–90
 Catalano S, Smith E, Snyder H, Rand M. 2009. Female victims of violence. In Bureau of Justice Statistics: Selected Findings. US Dep. Justice Rep. NCJ228356, Off. Justice Progr., Washington, DC https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/fvv.pdf
- Chapman S, Alpers P, Jones M. 2016. Association between gun law reforms and intentional firearm deaths in Australia, 1979–2013. JAMA 316:291–99
- Chen D, Wu L-T. 2016. Association between substance use and gun-related behaviors. *Epidemiol. Rev.* 38(1):46–61
- Childress JF, Faden RR, Gaare RD, Gostin LO, Kahn J, et al. 2002. Public health ethics: mapping the terrain. 7. Law. Med. Ethics 30(2):170–78
- Chivers CJ. 2016. Facebook groups act as weapons bazaars for militias. New York Times, April 7, p. 1
- Choe JY, Teplin LA, Abram KM. 2008. Perpetration of violence, violent victimization, and severe mental illness: balancing public health concerns. *Psychiatr. Serv.* 59(2):153–64
- Clement S, Schauman O, Graham T, Maggioni F, Evans-Lacko S, et al. 2015. What is the impact of mental health-related stigma on help-seeking? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. *Psychol. Med.* 45(1):11–27
- Cohn D, Taylor P, Lopez MH, Gallagher CA, Parker K, Maass KT. 2013. Gun homicide rate down 49% since 1993 peak; public unaware: pace of decline slows in past decade. Pew Research Center Social and Demographic Trends, May 7. http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2013/05/07/gun-homicide-rate-down-49-since-1993-peak-public-unaware/
- Corrigan PW, Watson AC, Heyrman ML, Warpinski A, Gracia G, et al. 2005. Structural stigma in state legislation. Psychiatr. Serv. 56:557–63
- Crim. Justice Inf. Serv. Div. 2015. National Instant Criminal Background Check System (NICS) operations 2014.
 US Dep. Justice Rep., Fed. Bur. Investig., Washington, DC
- Daniels A. 2013. The online gun marketplace and the dangerous loophole in the National Instant Background Check System. *John Marshall J. Inf. Tech. Priv. Law* 30:757
- Desmarais SL, Van Dorn RA, Johnson KL, Grimm KJ, Douglas KS, Swartz MS. 2014. Community violence perpetration and victimization among adults with mental illnesses. *Am. J. Public Health* 104(12):2342–49 *District of Columbia v. Heller*, 554 U.S. 570 (2008)
- Donohue J, Ayres I. 2009. More guns, less crime fails again: the latest evidence from 1977–2006. *Econ. J. Watch* 6(2):218–38
- Donohue JJ, Ayres I. 2003. Shooting down the "more guns, less crime" hypothesis. *Stanf. Law Rev.* 55:1193–312 Douglas KS, Skeem JL. 2005. Violence risk assessment: getting specific about being dynamic. *Psychol. Public Policy Law* 11(3):347–83
- Duwe G. 2004. The patterns and prevalence of mass murder in twentieth-century America. *Justice Q.* 21(4):729–61
- Elbogen EB, Johnson SC. 2009. The intricate link between violence and mental disorder: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 66(2):152–61
- Elkins Z. 2013. Rewrite the Second Amendment. New York Times, April 4. http://www.nytimes.com/2013/04/05/opinion/rewrite-the-second-amendment.html
- Estroff SE, Swanson JW, Lachicotte WS, Swartz M, Bolduc M. 1998. Risk reconsidered: targets of violence in the social networks of people with serious psychiatric disorders. *Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol.* 33(1):S95–101
- Fabio A, Duell J, Creppage K, O'Donnell K, Laporte R. 2016. Gaps continue in firearm surveillance: evidence from a large U.S. city Bureau of Police. *Soc. Med.* 10(1):13–21
- Fazel S, Gulati G, Linsell L, Geddes JR, Grann M. 2009. Schizophrenia and violence: systematic review and meta-analysis. PLOS Med. 6(8):e1000120
- Fazel S, Yu R. 2009. Psychotic disorders and repeat offending: systematic review and meta-analysis. Schizophr. Bull. 37:800–10
- Fowler KA, Dahlberg LL, Haileyesus T, Annest JL. 2015. Firearm injuries in the United States. Prev. Med. 79:5–14

- Fowler TL. 2001. Ignorance of the law: Should it excuse violations of certain federal restrictions on the possession of firearms? Campbell Law Rev. 23(2):283-304
- Fox JA, DeLateur MJ. 2014. Mass shootings in America: moving beyond Newtown. Homicide Stud. 18(1):125– 45
- Frattaroli S, McGinty EE, Barnhorst A, Greenberg S. 2015. Gun violence restraining orders: alternative or adjunct to mental health-based restrictions on firearms? Behav. Sci. Law 33(2-3):290-307
- Gatheridge BJ, Miltenberger RG, Huneke DF, Satterlund MJ, Mattern AR, et al. 2004. Comparison of two programs to teach firearm injury prevention skills to 6- and 7-year-old children. Pediatrics 114(3):e294-99
- Gold LH. 2013. Gun violence: psychiatry, risk assessment, and social policy. J. Am. Acad. Psychiatry Law Online 41(3):337-43
- Grinshteyn E, Hemenway D. 2016. Violent death rates: the US compared with other high-income OECD countries, 2010. Am. 7. Med. 129(3):266-73
- Halbrook SP. 2013. That Every Man Be Armed: The Evolution of a Constitutional Right. Albuquerque, NM: Univ. New Mexico Press. 2nd ed.
- Hemenway D, Solnick SJ. 2015. The epidemiology of self-defense gun use: evidence from the National Crime Victimization Surveys 2007–2011. Prev. Med. 79:22–27
- Hepburn L, Miller M, Azrael D, Hemenway D. 2007. The US gun stock: results from the 2004 National Firearms Survey. Inj. Prev. 13(1):15-19
- Hiday VA, Swanson JW, Swartz MS, Borum R, Wagner HR. 2001. Victimization: a link between mental illness and violence? Int. J. Law Psychiatry 24(6):559-72
- Himle MB, Miltenberger RG, Gatheridge BJ, Flessner CA. 2004. An evaluation of two procedures for training skills to prevent gun play in children. Pediatrics 113(1):70-77
- Hunt EK. 1845. Statistics of suicides in the United States. Am. 7. Insanity 1(3):225-34
- Ingraham C. 2015. There are now more guns than people in the United States. Washington Post, Oct. 5. https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2015/10/05/guns-in-the-united-states-onefor-every-man-woman-and-child-and-then-some/?utm_term = .5117859b189f
- Int. Assoc. Chiefs Police. 2007. Taking a stand: reducing gun violence in our communities. Int. Assoc. Chiefs Police Rep., Washington, DC
- Jackman GA, Farah MM, Kellermann AL, Simon HK. 2001. Seeing is believing: What do boys do when they find a real gun? Pediatrics 107(6):1247-50
- Johnson KL, Desmarais SL, Grimm KJ, Tueller SJ, Swartz MS, Van Dorn RA. 2016. Proximal risk factors for short-term community violence among adults with mental illnesses. Psychiatr. Serv. 67(7):771–78
- Jorm AF, Reavley NJ. 2014. Public belief that mentally ill people are violent: Is the USA exporting stigma to the rest of the world? Aust. N. Z. 7. Psychiatry 48(3):213-15
- Kalesan B, Villarreal MD, Keyes KM, Galea S. 2016. Gun ownership and social gun culture. Inj. Prev. 22(3):216-20
- Kellermann AL, Rivara FP, Rushforth NB, Banton JG, Reay DT, et al. 1993. Gun ownership as a risk factor for homicide in the home. N. Engl. 7. Med. 329(15):1084–91
- Kellermann AL, Rivara FP, Somes G, Reay DT, Francisco J, et al. 1992. Suicide in the home in relation to gun ownership. N. Engl. 7. Med. 327(7):467-72
- Laine C, Taichman DB, Mulrow C, Berkwits M, Cotton D, Williams SV. 2013. A resolution for physicians: time to focus on the public health threat of gun violence. Ann. Intern. Med. 158(6):493-94
- Large MM, Nielssen O. 2011. Violence in first-episode psychosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Schizophr. Res. 125(2-3):209-20
- Lidz CW, Mulvey EP, Gardner W. 1993. The accuracy of predictions of violence to others. 7AMA 269(8):1007-11
- Liu EC, Bagalman E, Chu VS, Redhead CS. 2013. Submission of mental health records to NICS and the HIPAA privacy rule. Congr. Res. Serv. Rep. 7-5700/R43040, Washington, DC
- Lott JR. 2010. More Guns, Less Crime: Understanding Crime and Gun-Control Laws. Chicago: Univ. Chicago Press. 3rd ed.
- Luca M, Malhotra DK, Poliquin C. 2016. The impact of mass shootings on gun policy. Work. Pap. 16–126, Negot. Organ. Mark. Unit, Harv. Bus. Sch., Cambridge, MA

- Mann JJ, Michel CA. 2016. Prevention of firearm suicide in the United States: what works and what is possible. Am. 7. Psychiatry. 173:969-79
- McDonald v. City of Chicago, 651 U.S. 742 (2010)
- McGee KS, Coyne-Beasley T, Johnson RM. 2003. Review of evaluations of educational approaches to promote safe storage of firearms. Inj. Prev. 9(2):108-11
- McGinty EE, Choksy S, Wintemute GJ. 2016a. The relationship between controlled substances and violence. Epidemiol. Rev. 38(1):5-31
- McGinty EE, Frattaroli S, Appelbaum PS, Bonnie RJ, Grilley A, et al. 2014a. Using research evidence to reframe the policy debate around mental illness and guns: process and recommendations. Am. 7. Public Health 104(11):e22-26
- McGinty EE, Kennedy-Hendricks A, Choksy S, Barry CL. 2016b. Trends in news media coverage of mental illness in the United States: 1995-2014. Health Aff. Millwood 35(6):1121-29
- McGinty EE, Webster DW, Jarlenski M, Barry CL. 2014b. News media framing of serious mental illness and gun violence in the United States, 1997-2012. Am. J. Public Health 104(3):406-13
- Metzl JM, MacLeish KT. 2015. Mental illness, mass shootings, and the politics of American firearms. Am. 7. Public Health 105(2):240-49
- Miller M, Azrael D, Hemenway D. 2002. Rates of household firearm ownership and homicide across US regions and states, 1988-1997. Am. 7. Public Health 92(12):1988-93
- Miller M, Azrael D, Hepburn L, Hemenway D, Lippmann SJ. 2006. The association between changes in household firearm ownership and rates of suicide in the United States, 1981-2002. Inj. Prev. 12(3):178-
- Monahan J, Steadman HJ. 2012. Extending violence reduction principles to justice-involved persons with mental illness. In Using Social Science to Reduce Violent Offending, ed. JA Dvoskin, JL Skeem, RW Novaco, KS Douglas, pp. 245-64. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Monahan J, Steadman HJ, Silver E, Appelbaum PS, Robbins PC, et al. 2001. Rethinking Risk Assessment: The MacArthur Study of Mental Disorder and Violence. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Morin R. 2014. The demographics and politics of gun-owning households. Fact Tank, July 15. http:// www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2014/07/15/the-demographics-and-politics-of-gun-owninghouseholds/
- Mulvey EP, Lidz CW. 1995. Conditional prediction: a model for research on dangerousness to others in a new era. Int. 7. Law Psychiatry 18(2):129-43
- Mulvey EP, Odgers C, Skeem J, Gardner W, Schubert C, Lidz C. 2006. Substance use and community violence: a test of the relation at the daily level. 7. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 74(4):743-54
- Natl. Res. Counc. 2004. Firearms and Violence: A Critical Review. Washington, DC: Natl. Acad. Press
- Newhill CE, Mulvey EP, Lidz CW. 1995. Characteristics of violence in the community by female patients seen in a psychiatric emergency service. Psychiatr. Serv. 46(8):785-89
- Nielssen O, Bourget D, Laajasalo T, Liem M, Labelle A, et al. 2011. Homicide of strangers by people with a psychotic illness. Schizophr. Bull. 37(3):572–79
- Oakley C, Hynes F, Clark T. 2009. Mood disorders and violence: a new focus. Adv. Psychiatr. Treat. 15(4):263–
- Oram S, Trevillion K, Feder G, Howard LM. 2013. Prevalence of experiences of domestic violence among psychiatric patients: systematic review. Br. J. Psychiatry. 202(2):94-99
- Paola FA. 2001. Physicians, firearm counseling, and legal liability. South. Med. 7. 94(1):88–92
- Perrin PB. 2016. Translating psychological science: highlighting the media's contribution to contagion in mass shootings: comment on Kaslow 2015. Am. Psychol. 71(1):71-72
- Pescosolido BA. 2013. The public stigma of mental illness: What do we think; what do we know; what can we prove? 7. Health Soc. Behav. 54(1):1-21
- Peterson JK, Skeem J, Kennealy P, Bray B, Zvonkovic A. 2014. How often and how consistently do symptoms directly precede criminal behavior among offenders with mental illness? Law Hum. Behav. 38(5):439-49
- Pinals DA, Appelbaum PS, Bonnie R, Fisher CE, Gold LH, Lee L-W. 2015. American Psychiatric Association: position statement on firearm access, acts of violence and the relationship to mental illness and mental health services. Behav. Sci. Law. 33(2-3):195-98

- Plassmann F, Whitley J. 2003. Confirming "more guns, less crime." Stanf. Law Rev. 55:1313-69
- Price JH, Khubchandani J. 2016. Firearm violence by the mentally ill: mental health professionals' perceptions and practices. *Violence Gend.* 3(2):92–99
- Price JH, Khubchandani J, Payton E. 2015. Vision impaired or professionally blind health education research and firearm violence. *Health Promot. Pract.* 16(3):316–19
- Prins SJ, Skeem JL, Mauro C, Link BG. 2015. Criminogenic factors, psychotic symptoms, and incident arrests among people with serious mental illnesses under intensive outpatient treatment. *Law Hum. Behav.* 39(2):177–88
- Radant LJ, Johnson TM. 2003. The Wisconsin Research Network Firearm Safety Survey. WMJ Off. Publ. State Med. Soc. Wis. 102(4):46–50
- Rostron A. 2016. A new state ice age for gun policy. Harv. Law Policy Rev. 10(2):327-59
- Rozel JS. 2016. Rhetoric, reactivity, and evidence-based policy in the wake of shootings. Psychiatry Advisor, Jan. 19. http://www.psychiatryadvisor.com/anxiety/rhetoric-reactivity-and-evidence-based-policy-in-the-wake-of-shootings/article/466055/
- Rozel JS, Jain A, Mulvey EP, Roth LH. 2017. Psychiatric assessment of violence. In *The Wiley Handbook of Violence and Aggression*, Vol. 2, ed. P Sturmey. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons. In press
- Rozel J, Soliman L, Jain A. 2015. The gun talk: how to talk to patients and families about guns and gun safety. Presented at Am. Psychiatr. Inst. Psychiatr. Serv., Oct. 10, New York
- Schweit KW. 2016. Active Shooter Incidents in the United States in 2014 and 2015. US Dep. Justice Rep., Fed. Bur. Investig., Washington, DC
- Shaughnessy AF, Cincotta JA, Adelman A. 1999. Family practice patients' attitudes toward firearm safety as a preventive medicine issue: a HARNET study. Harrisburg Area Research Network. J. Am. Board Fam. Pract. Am. Board Fam. Pract. 12(5):354–59
- Skeem J, Kennealy P, Monahan J, Peterson J, Appelbaum P. 2016. Psychosis uncommonly and inconsistently precedes violence among high-risk individuals. Clin. Psychol. Sci. 4(1):40–49
- Skeem JL, Mulvey EP, Appelbaum P, Banks S, Grisso T, et al. 2004. Identifying subtypes of civil psychiatric patients at high risk for violence. Crim. Justice Behav. 31(4):392–437
- Skeem JL, Winter E, Kennealy PJ, Louden JE, Tatar JR. 2014. Offenders with mental illness have criminogenic needs, too: toward recidivism reduction. Law Hum. Behav. 38(3):212–24
- Slovak K, Brewer TW. 2010. Suicide and firearm means restriction: Can training make a difference? Suicide Life. Threat. Behav. 40(1):63–73
- Small Arms Survey. 2011. Estimating civilian owned firearms. Small Arms Survey Res. Note 9, Geneva
- Smith TW, Son J. 2015. General Social Survey final report: trends in gun ownership in the United States, 1972–2014. NORC Rep., Univ. Chicago, Chicago
- Somerset AJ. 2015. Arms: The Culture and Credo of the Gun. Windsor, Ont.: Biblioasis
- Sonneck G, Etzersdorfer E, Nagel-Kuess S. 1994. Imitative suicide on the Viennese subway. Soc. Sci. Med. 38(3):453–57
- Stanley IH, Hom MA, Rogers ML, Anestis MD, Joiner TE. 2016. Discussing firearm ownership and access as part of suicide risk assessment and prevention: "means safety" versus "means restriction." *Arch. Suicide Res.* https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2016.1175395
- Steadman HJ, Monahan J, Pinals DA, Vesselinov R, Robbins PC. 2015. Gun violence and victimization of strangers by persons with a mental illness: data from the MacArthur Violence Risk Assessment Study. Psychiatr. Serv. 66(11):1238–41
- Steadman HJ, Mulvey EP, Monahan J, Robbins PC, Appelbaum PS, et al. 1998. Violence by people discharged from acute psychiatric inpatient facilities and by others in the same neighborhoods. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 55(5):393–401
- Sterzer J. 2012. The good, the bad and the ugly: a 50-state survey exploring federal and state firearm regulations related to mental health. *J. Leg. Med.* 33(1):171–99
- Stone MH. 2015. Mass murder, mental illness, and men. Violence Gend. 2(1):51-86
- Stuart H. 2003. Violence and mental illness: an overview. World Psychiatry 2(2):121-24
- Swanson JW. 1996. Mental disorder, substance abuse, and community violence: an epidemiological approach. In *Violence and Mental Disorder: Developments in Risk Assessment*, ed. J Monahan, HJ Steadman, pp. 101–36. Chicago: Univ. Chicago Press

- Swanson JW. 2008. Preventing the unpredicted: managing violence risk in mental health care. Psychiatr. Serv. 59(2):191-93
- Swanson JW. 2015. Explaining rare acts of violence: the limits of evidence from population research. *Psychiatr*. Serv. 62:1369-71
- Swanson JW, Easter MM, Robertson AG, Swartz MS, Alanis-Hirsch K, et al. 2016. Gun violence, mental illness, and laws that prohibit gun possession: evidence from two Florida counties. Health Aff. Millwood 35(6):1067-75
- Swanson JW, Holzer CE, Ganju VK, Jono RT. 1990. Violence and psychiatric disorder in the community: evidence from the Epidemiologic Catchment Area surveys. Hosp. Community Psychiatry 41(7):761–70
- Swanson JW, McGinty EE, Fazel S, Mays VM. 2014. Mental illness and reduction of gun violence and suicide: bringing epidemiologic research to policy. Ann. Epidemiol. 25:366–76
- Swedler DI, Simmons MM, Dominici F, Hemenway D. 2015. Firearm prevalence and homicides of law enforcement officers in the United States. Am. J. Public Health 105(10):2042-48
- Swift A. 2013. Personal safety top reason Americans own guns today. Gallup, Oct. 28. http://www.gallup. com/poll/165605/personal-safety-top-reason-americans-own-guns-today.aspx
- Taylor MA. 2016. A comprehensive study of mass murder precipitants and motivations of offenders. Int. 7. Offender Ther. Comp. Criminol. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X16646805
- ten Have M, de Graaf R, van Weeghel J, van Dorsselaer S. 2014. The association between common mental disorders and violence: To what extent is it influenced by prior victimization, negative life events and low levels of social support? Psychol. Med. 44(7):1485-98
- Teplin LA, McClelland GM, Abram KM, Weiner DA. 2005. Crime victimization in adults with severe mental illness: comparison with the National Crime Victimization Survey. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 62(8):911-921
- Tiihonen J, Isohanni M, Rasanen P, Koiranen M, Moring J. 1997. Specific major mental disorders and criminality: a 26-year prospective study of the 1966 northern Finland birth cohort. Am. 7. Psychiatry 154(6):840-45
- Towers S, Gomez-Lievano A, Khan M, Mubayi A, Castillo-Chavez C. 2015. Contagion in mass killings and school shootings. PLOS ONE 10(7):e0117259
- Traylor A, Price JH, Telljohann SK, King K, Thompson A. 2010. Clinical psychologists' firearm risk management perceptions and practices. 7. Community Health 35(1):60-67
- Trevillion K, Oram S, Feder G, Howard LM. 2012. Experiences of domestic violence and mental disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLOS ONE 7(12):e51740
- van Kesteren JN. 2014. Revisiting the gun ownership and violence link: a multilevel analysis of Victimization Survey data. Br. 7. Criminol. 54(1):53-72
- Vossekuil B, Fein RA, Reddy M, Borum R, Modzeleski W. 2002. The final report and findings of the Safe School *Initiative: implications for the prevention of school attacks in the United States.* US Dep. Educ./US Secret Serv. Rep., Off. Elem. Second. Educ., Safe Drug-Free Sch. Progr./Natl. Threat Assess. Cent., Washington, DC
- Vriniotis M, Barber C, Frank E, Demicco R, N. H. Firearm Saf. Coalit. 2015. A suicide prevention campaign for firearm dealers in New Hampshire. Suicide Life Threat. Behav. 45(2):157-63
- Walsh E, Buchanan A, Fahy T. 2002. Violence and schizophrenia: examining the evidence. Br. 7. Psychiatry 7. Ment. Sci. 180:490-95
- Wheeler TW. 2015. What to do when your doctor asks about guns. Doctors for Responsible Gun Ownership Blog, June 27. https://drgo.us/?p = 1621
- Wiehl T. 2014. The presumption of dangerousness: how New York's SAFE Act reflects our irrational fear of mental illness. Seton Hall Legis. 7. 38(1):37-69
- Wilson HL. 2016. Gun Politics in America: Historical and Modern Documents in Context. Santa Barbara, CA: ABC-CLIO
- Winsper C, Singh SP, Marwaha S, Amos T, Lester H, et al. 2013. Pathways to violent behavior during first-episode psychosis: a report from the UK national EDEN study. JAMA Psychiatry 70(12):1287-93
- Wintemute GJ. 2013. Comprehensive background checks for firearm sales: evidence from gun shows. In Reducing Gun Violence in America: Informing Policy with Evidence and Analysis, ed. DS Webster, JS Vernick, pp. 95–107. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins Univ. Press

- Wintemute GJ. 2015. The epidemiology of firearm violence in the twenty-first century United States. Annu. Rev. Public Health 36(1):5-19
- Wintemute GJ, Betz ME, Ranney ML. 2016. Yes, you can: physicians, patients, and firearms. Ann. Intern. Med. 165:205-13
- Wintemute GJ, Braga AA, Kennedy DM. 2010. Private-party gun sales, regulation, and public safety. N. Engl. J. Med. 363(6):508-11
- Wintemute GJ, Parham CA, Beaumont JJ, Wright M, Drake C. 1999. Mortality among recent purchasers of handguns. N. Engl. J. Med. 341(21):1583-89
- Witt K, van Dorn R, Fazel S. 2013. Correction: risk factors for violence in psychosis: systematic review and meta-regression analysis of 110 studies. PLOS ONE 8(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/ annotation/f4abfc20-5a38-4dec-aa46-7d28018bbe38